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From: on behalf of
Sent: Monday, 17 October 2022 10:17 AM
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: (IR Ref: 2022/0579) Revised COVID vaccine EB for ELC [SEC=OFFICIAL:Sensitive, 

ACCESS=Legal-Privilege]
Attachments: EC22-002035 001 AFP COVID19 vaccination policy recommendation post consultation - 

IR Comment.docx

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Categories:

OFFICIAL: Sensitive 
Legal privilege 
Hi

For your review and progression. 

Industrial Relations have reviewed the attached EB and have only made very minor changes/comments. If you are 
happy with the attached, please see below email to or final review and clearance.  

Please let me know if you would like to discuss further or require any additional changes. 

Regards,  

************** 
CWR  

Hi

For your review and clearance. 

Please see attached the revised COVID-19 vaccination EB for ELC that has been review by Industrial Relations. The 
team has made very minor amendments and have confirmed Industrial Relations’ recommended position with 

regard to paid work time to receive a booster vaccination.  

If you are happy with the attached, please see below draft back to a/Cmdr Penny. 

Please let me know if you require any further changes or amendments.  

Regards,  

************** 

Good morning/afternoon Simon, 

Industrial Relations have reviewed the attached EB and have made very minor changes/comments in tracked 
changes.  

 Folio 13

s 22(1)(a)(ii)

s 22(1)(a)(ii) s 47E(d)

s 22(1)(a)(ii)

s 47E(d)

s 22(1)(a)(ii)

s 22(1)(a)(ii)

s 22(1)(a)(ii)

s 22(1)(a)(ii)

s 22(1)(a)(ii)

s 22(1)(a)(ii)

THIS DOCUMENT IS
 RELE

ASED  

BY THE AUSTRALIA
N FEDERAL P

OLIC
E UNDER THE 

FREEDOM OF IN
FORMATION ACT 19

82 
(CTH)

LEX 1541 AFP DISCLOSURE LOG Folio 12



2

Please let me know if you require anything further. 

Regards,  

Writing to you from Ngunnawal Country
COORDINATOR WORKPLACE RELATIONS
PEOPLE & CULTURE COMMAND
Tel: +61 (0)2 51263954  Ext: 263954 
www.afp.gov.au 

From afp.gov.au> 
Sent: Monday, 17 October 2022 9:18 AM 

To: @afp.gov.au>; @afp.gov.au> 
Cc: @afp.gov.au> 

Subject: FW: Revised COVID vaccine EB for ELC [SEC=OFFICIAL:Sensitive, ACCESS=Legal-Privilege] 
Importance: High 

Hi team – Can this please be actioned by 12pm? That will allow time for I to clear and progress via to 
a/CMDR Penny. 

Thank you 

Writing to you from Ngunnawal Country
A/SNR TEAM LEADER WORKPLACE RELATIONS
PEOPLE & CULTURE COMMAND
Tel: 
www.afp.gov.au 
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From: afp.gov.au> 
Sent: Monday, 17 October 2022 8:56 AM 

To: @afp.gov.au>; is@afp.gov.au> 
Subject: FW: Revised COVID vaccine EB for ELC [SEC=OFFICIAL:Sensitive, ACCESS=Legal-Privilege] 

Importance: High 

OFFICIAL: Sensitive 
Legal privilege 

Team – Urgent one please, noting deadline. 

Writing to you from Ngunnawal Country
COORDINATOR WORKPLACE RELATIONS
PEOPLE & CULTURE COMMAND
Tel: +61 (0)2
www.afp.gov.au 

From: @afp.gov.au> 
Sent: Friday, 14 October 2022 3:21 PM 

To @afp.gov.au> afp.gov.au>; Money, 
Alison <Alison.Money@afp.gov.au>; @afp.gov.au>; 

@afp.gov.au> @afp.gov.au>; 
@afp.gov.au>; Lee, Scott <Scott.Lee@afp.gov.au> 

Subject: Revised COVID vaccine EB for ELC [SEC=OFFICIAL:Sensitive, ACCESS=Legal-Privilege] 
Importance: High 

OFFICIAL:Sensitive 
Legal privilege 

Good afternoon expert team, 
(AC SPC for awareness as to progress, no action required at this time) 
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The ELC is expecting a revised submission regarding COVID vaccination policy for their meeting on Thursday 20 
October. 

I have revised the previous Brief, adding content for the outcomes of the formal consultations. 

I have also paid particular attention to the ELC’s request for CMO evidence, as highlighted in the ELC outcomes from 
9 September below: 

ELC meeting 9 September 2022, in the absence of DCO, a/COO tabled the paper. ELC provided in 
principle support, pending further work to be done in consultation and a revised paper to be returned to 

ELC. Specific outcomes of ELC are recorded below: 
1. ELC noted the advice from the various specialist business areas, provided to assist in consideration of

the AFPs COVID-19 vaccination policy with a revision to be made to the EB to cite the evidence CMO 
relied on regarding the efficacy of successive doses of the vaccination. (Note the package only 

contained the ATAGI advice from February 2022 which informed the decision to include boosters in the 
mandate).  

2. ELC agreed that consultation with the AFPA, CPSU, Comcare and AFP employees should commence 
immediately, to the effect that only two vaccination doses are mandatory and this consultation to be 

referenced in the revised EB.  
3. ELC endorsed amendment to be made to the National Guideline to reflect that the CMO maintains

authority on vaccination requirements for certain roles and international deployments. 
4. ELC noted that AC SPC will, once final approval is provided by ELC, make the necessary changes to

CO10 and prepare organisational comms for dissemination by DCO. 

Can I ask that you each conduct a wholesale review of the EB from your various expert positions. Tracked changes 
are preferred. Responses to me by COB Monday 17 October please, as I will need time to submit this to DCO 

through ACSPC prior to Thursday. 

Regards, 

A/COMMANDER
NATIONAL OPERATIONS COORDINATION
SPECIALIST PROTECTIVE COMMAND
Tel: +61(0) 2
www.afp.gov.au 
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Executive Briefing
PDMS: EC22-002035 

Addressee ELC 
Through DCO and ACSPC 

Title Specialist business area advice on AFP COVID-19 vaccination policy following 
formal consultation 

Action required: 

ELC decision. 

Deadline: 

No deadline. 

Reasons for proposed actions: 

Background 

On 2 May 2022 the AFP formalised an extension of the mandatory COVID-19 vaccination requiring 
appointees receive a booster dose. This position was adopted following the ATAGI advice on 10 
February 2022 recommending individuals aged 16 years and over should receive a booster dose. In a 
brief dated 27 April 2022, the AFP Working Group recommended the ELC adopt the preferred option 
that AFP appointees remain ‘up to date’ with their COVID-19 vaccinations as part of the AFP’s strategy 
to manage the safety of the workplace. This option was preferred over an identified alternative 
approach of comprehensive protection measures for declared business areas identified by virtue of 
specialist capability, or close proximity or other workplace features. 

At the time of the policy change, up-to-date vaccination status was recognised as an effective 
mitigation against further spread and the prevention of serious disease. Furthermore, the impact of 
infection on the workplace was considerable at this time. Business area impacts were presented to 
the ELC citing workplace absence rates of ~20% within NOSSC and ~75% within the College. These 
circumstances have changed somewhat with the passage of time. Effectiveness of current vaccines 
against leading COVID-19 variants is considered to be of less value than was previous for the 
prevention of transmission. Workplace absence rates have also reduced, likely attributable to higher 
vaccination rates and reductions to health requirements on mandatory periods of isolation. At the 
time the vaccine mandate for three doses was determined, the third dose rates amongst employees, 
as reported to the AFP, was (as at 17 October 2022). 
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Expert analysis 

The ELC has sought additional advice from the specialist business areas to assist the consideration of 
the Executive Brief and associated materials previously prepared on the AFP’s vaccine governance 
(Annexure 1).  This Brief will endeavour to articulate the advice succinctly according to the individual 
specialist business areas. 

Chief Medical Officer (CMO) 

Currently available booster vaccines are noted to be less effective in reducing transmission of 
dominant COVID-19 variants when compared to their effectiveness against previous COVID-19 
variants. ATAGI have recently released guidance on the use of Moderna bivalent vaccine, which is the 
first of a series of vaccines being developed that have some specificity for the initial Omicron variant 
of COVID-19, as well as the original strain.  The new vaccine is currently being batch tested by TGA 
and will be rolled out as existing Moderna vaccine stocks are exhausted. Additionally: 

• Any benefit of the new vaccine over current vaccines is modest, and ATAGI are indicating
either old or new are as effective as booster choices

• Efficacy of booster vaccines against severe disease remains essentially unchanged,
however the duration of protection with the bivalent vaccine may be several months
longer (as yet unproven) based on lab studies

• The new bivalent vaccine is not approved for the initial course of vaccination against
COVID-19

• The bivalent vaccine was developed using Omicron BA.1, and is thus not specific to the
currently circulating Omicron variants (BA.4 and BA.5)

• We have passed the expected winter peak of Omicron infection, and both BA.4 and BA.5
infections are waning with the expectation that these will continue to reduce and then
plateau

• There are currently no new variants of concern on the horizon, although this may change
• ATAGI are continuing to recommend a minimum of three months between natural

infection and subsequent boosters
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OFFICIAL:  
Legal privilege 

Recommendation: Reduce the requirement to the effect that only two vaccine doses are mandatory. 

SHIELD 

Recommendation: Reduce the requirement to the effect that only two vaccine doses are mandatory. 

Industrial Relations 

Recommendation: Reduce the requirement to the effect that only two vaccine doses are mandatory. 

Legal 
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OFFICIAL:  
Legal privilege 

Recommendation: Reduce the requirement to the effect that only two vaccine doses are mandatory. 

Formal consultation 

On 9 September 2022, the ELC supported the commencement of formal consultation in respect of 
AFP COVID-19 vaccination policy. This consultation was formally triggered through an email to all AFP 
staff and formal correspondence to the Australian Federal Police Association (AFPA) and 
Commonwealth Public Sector Union (CPSU) on 12 September 2022. 

Operation Protect Vaccination Working Group 

AFPA 
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CPSU 

AFP employees 

27 submissions were made by individual employees, the majority of which supported a reduction to 
the number of mandatory vaccinations. Other employee submissions addressed: 

• Request for a review of CO10 and all COVID-19 vaccinations in general 
• Views on the impact vaccinations have had on people’s health and wellbeing, including 

the exemption process and therefore impact on culture/morale 
• AFP should maintain current policy position (but not add further vaccinations to the 

schedule). 

Majority recommendation: Reduce the requirement to the effect that only two vaccine doses are 
mandatory. 

Resource implications: 

As outlined in Annexure 1. 

Consultation: 

As outlined in Annexure 1. 

Expected Reaction: 

As outlined in Annexure 1. 

Recommendation: 

It is recommended that the ELC: 
1. note the advice of the various specialist business areas in order to consider the AFP’s 

COVID-19 vaccination policy 
2. note the outcomes of formal consultation with the workplace and employee representatives 
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Endnote 

i The CMO outlined the following reputable scientific articles which demonstrate a consistent finding of waning 
efficacy of COVID-19 vaccination against Omicron variants (primarily mRNA vaccines, but relevant to all). 

Feikin DR, Abu-Raddad LJ, Andrews N, Davies MA, Higdon MM, Orenstein WA, Patel MK. Assessing vaccine 
effectiveness against severe COVID-19 disease caused by omicron variant. Report from a meeting of the 
World Health Organization. Vaccine. 2022 Jun 9;40(26):3516-27. (Meta-analysis) 
 

“Since the emergence of the omicron variant of SARS-CoV-2 in November 2021, mounting evidence has 
demonstrated significant immune evasion from infection-induced and vaccine-induced immunity. 
Vaccine effectiveness is lower against infection and symptomatic disease caused by omicron than other 
variants, including delta [1]. Moreover, vaccine effectiveness against these outcomes appears to wane 
faster after the primary series of vaccination. Vaccine effectiveness against severe omicron disease, on 
average, is higher, perhaps because of the role of preserved cellular immunity [2]. Nonetheless, 
assessing vaccine effectiveness against omicron severe disease has become more challenging because 
of its attenuated intrinsic severity and its high prevalence of infection. “ 

Higdon MM, Baidya A, Walter KK, Patel MK, Issa H, Espié E, Feikin DR, Knoll MD. Duration of effectiveness of 
vaccination against COVID-19 caused by the omicron variant. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2022 Aug 
1;22(8):1114-6. (Meta-analysis) 
 

“We recently conducted a systematic review and meta-regression of the duration of effectiveness of 
primary series COVID-19 vaccination against clinical outcomes before the predominance of the 
omicron (B.1.1.529) SARS-CoV-2 variant.  Here we assess the duration of vaccine protection, after a 
primary vaccine series and after the first booster dose, against omicron, the current predominant 
variant, using the same methods. 

We systematically reviewed published and preprint literature from Dec 3, 2021, to April 21, 2022, by 
searching for studies assessing absolute vaccine effectiveness over time during an omicron-dominant 
period. We estimated the mean change in vaccine effectiveness from 1 month to 6 months after 
primary vaccine series completion and from 1 month to 4 months after booster vaccination, using 
random-effects meta-regression (appendix p 22).” 

“Vaccine effectiveness of primary series COVID-19 vaccines against severe disease when the omicron 
variant was predominant was lower than that observed pre-omicron but showed little decline after 
vaccination. Booster vaccination increased vaccine effectiveness against omicron severe disease, which 
remained high 4 months after vaccination. Vaccine effectiveness against symptomatic disease 
decreased faster for omicron than pre-omicron variants, with protection from primary series 
vaccination nearly eroded by 4–6 months; protection after booster vaccination also decreased quickly, 
although less than after primary series vaccination.” 

Collie S, Champion J, Moultrie H, Bekker LG, Gray G. Effectiveness of BNT162b2 vaccine against omicron 
variant in South Africa. New England Journal of Medicine. 2022 Feb 3;386(5):494-6. 
 

“Among BNT162b2 primary course recipients, vaccine effectiveness increased to 67.2% (95% CI, 66.5 to 
67.8) at 2 to 4 weeks after a BNT162b2 booster before declining to 45.7% (95% CI, 44.7 to 46.7) at 10 
or more weeks. Vaccine effectiveness after a ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 primary course increased to 70.1% 
(95% CI, 69.5 to 70.7) at 2 to 4 weeks after an mRNA-1273 booster and decreased to 60.9% (95% CI, 
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59.7 to 62.1) at 5 to 9 weeks. After a BNT162b2 primary course, the mRNA-1273 booster in[1]creased 
vaccine effectiveness to 73.9% (95% CI, 73.1 to 74.6) at 2 to 4 weeks; vac[1]cine effectiveness fell to 
64.4% (95% CI, 62.6 to 66.1) at 5 to 9 weeks.” 

Chemaitelly H, Ayoub HH, AlMukdad S, Tang P, Hasan MR, Yassine HM, Al Khatib HA, Smatti MK, Coyle P, Al 
Kanaani Z, Al Kuwari E. Duration of protection of BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273 COVID-19 vaccines against 
symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 Omicron infection in Qatar. medRxiv. 2022 Jan 1. 
 

“RESULTS BNT162b2 effectiveness against symptomatic Omicron infection was highest at 61.9% (95% 
CI: 49.9-71.1%) in the first month after the second dose, but then gradually declined and was at 10% or 
less starting from the 5th month after the second dose. After the booster, effectiveness rapidly 
rebounded to peak at about 55% between 2-5 weeks after the booster, but then started to decline 
again thereafter.” 

“CONCLUSIONS BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273 vaccines show a similar level and pattern of protection 
against symptomatic Omicron infection. Protection against Omicron is lower than that against Alpha, 
Beta, and Delta variants, and wanes more rapidly than against earlier variants after the second and 
booster doses.” 
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Executive Briefing 
EC22-002035 

 
 

Addressee ELC through DCO and Acting ACSPC 

Title Review of Risk Assessment relevant to AFP COVID-19 vaccination policy 

Action required: 

For decision in relation to the following four options: 
 

Option 1. Expand the requirement to the effect that four vaccine doses are mandatory.  
Option 2. Maintain the existing requirement for three vaccine doses. 
Option 3. Reduce the requirement to the effect that only two vaccine doses are 

mandatory. 
Option 4. Revoke the requirement to have any vaccine dose. 

Deadline: 

No deadline. 

Reasons for proposed actions: 

The AFP currently mandates three COVID-19 vaccine doses for all employees.  

 
It is important for vaccine mandates to be regularly reviewed in light of the rapidly evolving 
nature of the pandemic. In deciding a recent case involving the Australian Submarines 
Corporation, the Fair Work Commission (FWC) stressed the importance of regular review of 
vaccine mandates. The FWC noted that a reduction in risk may mean that mandatory 
vaccinations may no longer be a proportionate and reasonable response to risk. Any 
consideration of retaining a vaccination mandate must be considered and weighed against its 
advantages. 

 
A formal Risk Assessment (Attachment A) was conducted by the Chief Medical Officer (CMO), 
Shield, Industrial Relations, AFP Legal and Operation Protect representatives, considering: 

• the current pandemic situation; 
• emerging evidence that vaccination may not have a significant effect on levels of 

transmission; 
• the reduction of vaccination mandates amongst the AFP’s partner agencies; and 
• the reduction of restrictions and prevention measures relating to COVID-19 within 

the community more generally. 
 
This process identified seven key risks, with their assessed likelihood, consequence and risk 
ratings as follows: 

1. The volatility and pervasiveness of the COVID-19 threat is greater than the AFP's ability 
to effectively govern suitable vaccination arrangements and other measures to provide 
workforce and capability protection (Moderate, Possible; Medium). 

2. The AFP does not provide a safe workplace (Moderate, Possible; Medium). 
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3. The AFP is unable to maintain a workforce capable of meeting the statutory
requirements to deliver public safety and associated police services to the community
(Moderate, Possible; Medium).

4. Public trust and confidence in the AFP is reduced (Moderate, Unlikely; Medium).
5. Maintaining vaccination mandate for the primary course of vaccination raises a risk of

Industrial or legal action against the AFP by employees and employee representatives,
including the AFPA (Moderate, Possible; Medium).

6. Maintaining the booster vaccination mandate raises a risk of Industrial or legal action
against the AFP by employees and employee representatives, including the AFPA
(Moderate, Possible; Medium).

7. Implementing a varied vaccination approach for AFP classes of employees undermines
AFP health and safety outcomes and confidence amongst its employees and partners
(Moderate, Possible; Medium).

Medical position 
At the time of this Executive Briefing (EB), the Australian Technical Advisory Group on 
Immunisation (ATAGI) recommends booster doses to ensure protection remains “up to date”. 
In addition, ATAGI has recently expanded their recommendations to include a fourth dose for 
persons over 50 years of age, and expanded eligibility for a fourth dose of the vaccine to persons 
over 30 years of age. The Australian Health Protection Principal Committee (AHPPC) states 
vaccination “continues to be the most important protection against severe illness”. 

Despite ATAGI recommendations, currently available booster vaccines are noted to be less 
effective in reducing transmission of dominant COVID-19 variants when compared to their 
effectiveness against previous COVID-19 variants. Early evidence suggests that protection 
against infection and onward transmission appears to be waning earlier with successive doses. 

Additionally, while there is widespread community transmission, a large number of employees 
are ineligible for boosters due to ATAGI stipulation of a three-month window between COVID 
diagnosis and subsequent booster.  

Booster doses continue to afford additional protection against serious illness, but at decreased 
efficacy and duration compared to the primary course of vaccinations and earlier variants. 
Vaccination is increasingly a matter of managing personal risk rather than collective protection. 

The Risk Assessment considers the available controls to mitigate the risks of contracting COVID-
19, and whether vaccination remains a necessary control to mitigate the risk to unvaccinated 
(or un-boosted) individuals. The Risk Assessment process identified that the lack of 
commensurate controls (such as wearing of PPE) in the community meant that implementation 
of such controls in the workplace would only be of modest value, and would do little to prevent 
transmission.  
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Analysis of options  

Option 1 – Expand the requirement to effect that four vaccine doses are mandatory 

Option 1 is not recommended by the CMO, given the reduced effectiveness of booster vaccine 
doses against current COVID-19 variants. There is therefore a disproportion between the risks 
and effort involved in implementing a mandate for a fourth dose, and the benefit expected in 
terms of improved health outcomes for individuals, reduction in transmissibility and workforce 
protection. The CMO advised there are vaccines under development that are anticipated to be 
of greater efficacy against current COVID-19 variants. In this regard, the viability of this option 
should only be considered in the future should further vaccines become available.  

Option 1 also attracts increased industrial and legal risk. The AFP is aware that the AFPA is 
unlikely to support further vaccine mandates, which increases the risk of legal challenge. 

Option 2 – Maintain the existing requirement for three vaccine doses 

The Risk Assessment process did not produce a leading course of action that prefers or 
recommends either option 2 or option 3 (outlined below).  

However, there is elevated legal risk in relation to option 2, as compliance currently stands at 
86.1% of the workforce fully vaccinated with three doses. If the status quo is maintained, more 

1 Approximately 71% of the Australian population aged 16 and over have received a third dose as at 15 
August 2022. Source: www.health.gov.au 
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termination of employment decisions are likely to be made, with some of those employees 
expected to challenge the decision.  

Option 2 would also mean resources will continue to be spent administering the exemption 
process. Given the heightened risk of unfair dismissal applications in the current circumstances, 
if this option is preferred, the exemption process may warrant review. For example, the AFP 
could examine whether it would be possible for the exemption process to consider a broader 
range of circumstances for the granting of exemptions, particularly whether unvaccinated (or 
un-boosted) employees may be able to continue to perform their duties in a way that does not 
cause unnecessary risks to their health and safety.  

The AFP could consider whether an exemption regime where unvaccinated employees 
permanently work from home, or are permanently confined to the performance of restricted 
duties would manage the risks and be a viable option. However, such an outcome would be 
contrary to the requirements of the AFP for the significant majority of its employees, as the AFP 
requires employees to be ready for deployment where needed.  

Full vaccination could still be required for certain roles, such as employees deploying overseas. 

Option 3 – Reduce the requirement to the effect that only two vaccine doses are mandatory  

This option would involve the AFP discontinuing the current mandate for the third booster, 
while maintaining the mandate for the two primary doses.  

At present, no AFP employee has been dismissed for failing to receive a booster dose. 

Option 3 would be more consistent with the position of many of the AFP’s partner agencies, 
who have not mandated boosters (and some have discontinued vaccine mandates altogether). 
As stated earlier, the Risk Assessment process did not produce a leading course of action that 
prefers or recommends either Option 2 or Option 3.  

If the AFP does not intend to mandate further vaccines (including the fourth booster) until a 
more effective vaccine becomes available, given the current boosters are not proven to 
materially protect the AFP’s workforce by reducing transmission, it is arguably more consistent 
with this reasoning not to maintain the mandate for the third booster.  

It is recognised the third vaccine dose does provide protection for the individual in reducing the 
severity of disease, and a third dose remains recommended by ATAGI for all age groups. In all 
cases, employees would be strongly urged to maintain up-to-date vaccination status. Further, 
the identified risks should continue to be monitored, and a formal review should be conducted 
in six months, if not earlier, particularly if a new vaccine becomes available, or a new COVID-19 
variant emerges, or there is a significant change to infection rates in the community. 
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Recommendation: 

The Executive Leadership Committee (ELC) should consider the AFP’s appetite for continued 
resolve in respect of the vaccine mandate for booster doses, and consequently consider the 
AFP’s appetite for slightly increased industrial and legal risk in maintaining this position. The 
Risk Assessment has not revealed a leading course of action between Option 2 and Option 3.  

Nevertheless, it is noted that Option 3 has a number of advantages, including reduced legal risk. 
Consultation with the Operation Protect Vaccine Working Group revealed a clear majority 
expressing a preference for Option 3. This option is also supported by the CMO.  

 
Recommendation 1:   The ELC adopts Option 3.   

Agreed:  Yes / No 
 
Recommendation 2:  The ELC notes that should the AFP require additional COVID-19 

vaccination for certain roles, including employee gateways, this will 
require further governance adjustment. 

      Agreed:  Yes / No 
 
Recommendation 3:  Currently identified risks continue to be monitored, and a formal 

review is conducted in six months, if not earlier, should there be any 
significant changes to the environment. 

      Agreed:  Yes / No 
 
 

Acting Commander  
National Operations Coordination 
 

 
16 August 2022 
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